INSTALLATION, OPERATION, MAINTENANCE Translation of original instructions

Koro Prime Espresso

EN English

CE Doc. No. H 4875EN00 EDITION 1 01 - 2016

EVOCA S.p.A. ad unico socio Sede amministrativa, operativa e legale: Via Roma 24 24030 Valbrembo (BG) Italia Tel +39 035 606111 Fax +39 035 606463 www.evocagroup.com Cap. Soc. € 41.138.297,00 i.v. Reg. Impr. BG, Cod. Fisc. e PIVA: 05035600963 Reg. Produttori A.E.E.: IT0802000001054 Cod. identificativo: IT 05035600963



DICHIARAZIONE DI CONFORMITA' - DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY - DÉCLARATION DE CONFORMITÉ - KONFORMITÄTSERKLÄRUNG -DECLARACIÓN DE CONFORMIDAD - DECLARAÇÃO DE CONFORMIDADE -VERKLARING VAN OVEREENSTEMMING - OVERENSSTEMMELSESERKLÆRING - FÖRSÄKRAN OM ÖVERENSSTÄMMELSE - VAATIMUSTENMUKAISUUSVAKUUTUS - ERKLÆRING OM OVERENSSTEMMELSE - PROHLÁŠENÍ O SHODĚ -DEKLARACJA ZGODNOŚCI - ДЕКЛАРАЦИЯ СООТВЕТСТВИЯ -

IT La presente dichiarazione di conformità è rilasciata sotto l'esclusiva responsabilità del fabbricante. Si dichiara che l'apparecchiatura, descritta nella targhetta di identificazione, è conforme alle disposizioni legislative delle Direttive Europee e successive modifiche ed integrazioni. Vengono riportate le norme armonizzate o le specifiche tecniche (designazioni) che sono state applicate in accordo con le regole della buona arte in materia di sicurezza in vigore nella UE.

EN This declaration of conformity is issued under the manufacturer's sole responsibility. It is declared that the equipment described by the identification plate is in compliance with the legal provisions of the European Directives as well as its subsequent amendments and supplements. The harmonised standards or the technical specifications (designations) applied in compliance with the safety rules of good practice in force in the EU are stated herein.

FR La présente déclaration de conformité est délivrée sous la responsabilité exclusive du fabricant. On déclare que l'appareillage décrit sur la plaquette d'identification est conforme aux dispositions législatives des Directives européennes et leurs modifications et intégrations ultérieures. Sont indiquées les normes harmonisées ou les spécifications techniques (désignations) qui ont été appliquées conformément aux bonnes règles de l'art en matière de sécurité en vigueur dans l'UE.

ES La presente declaración de conformidad se entrega bajo la exclusiva responsabilidad del fabricante. Se declara que el aparato, descripto en la etiqueta de identificación, es conforme con las disposiciones legislativas de las Directivas Europeas y con sus sucesivas modificaciones e integraciones. Se indican las normas armonizadas o las especificaciones técnicas (designaciones) que han sido aplicadas de acuerdo con las reglas del buen arte en materia de seguridad en vigencia en la UE.

DE Diese Konformitätserklärung wurde unter ausschließlicher Verantwortung des Herstellers verfasst. Es wird erklärt, dass das auf dem Typenschild beschriebene Gerät den gesetzlichen Bestimmungen der Europäischen Richtlinien und anschließenden Änderungen und Ergänzungen entspricht. Es werden die harmonisierten technischen Spezifikationen (Bestimmungen) aufgeführt, die gemäß den Regeln der Kunst hinsichtlich den in der EU geltenden Sicherheitsnormen angewendet wurden.

PT A presente declaração de conformidade é emitida sob exclusiva responsabilidade do fabricante. Declara-se que o equipamento, descrito na placa de identificação, está em conformidade com as disposições legislativas das Diretivas Europeias e sucessivas modificações e integrações. São indicadas as normas harmonizadas ou as especificações técnicas (designações) que foram aplicadas de acordo com as regras de boa engenharia em matéria de segurança, em vigor na UE. NL Deze verklaring van overeenstemming wordt uitsluitend onder de verantwoordelijkheid van de fabrikant verstrekt. Men verklaart dat het apparaat, beschreven op het identificatieplaatje, overeenstemt met de wettelijke bepalingen van de Europese Richtlijnen en daaropvolgende wijzigingen en aanvullingen. Hierna worden de geharmoniseerde normen of de technische specificaties (aanwijzingen) aangegeven die toegepast werden in overeenstemming met de regels van de goede techniek op gebied van veiligheid, die

DA Denne overensstemmelseserklæring udstedes ene og alene på fabrikantens ansvar. Det erklæres hermed, at apparaturet, der er beskrevet på udstyrets typeskilt, opfylder de lovgivningsmæssige i krav i de europæiske direktiver samt senere ændringer og tilføjelser. De anvendte harmoniserede standarder eller tekniske specifikationer (betegnelser), som er anvendt i overensstemmelse med reglerne i de tekniske sikkerhedsforskrifter gældende i EU.

in de EU van kracht zijn.

SV Denna försäkran om överensstämmelse utfärdas av tillverkaren på dennes egna ansvar. Vi försäkrar att utrustningen, som beskrivs på märkskylten, överensstämmer med lagar och författningar i EU-direktiven och i ändrad och kompletterad lydelse. Harmoniserade standarder eller tekniska specifikationer (beteckningar) återges som har tillämpats enligt sunda tekniska principer i fråga om säkerheten som gäller inom EU och som anges i listan på samma sida.

FI Tämä vaatimustenmukaisuusvakuutus annetaan valmistajan yksinomaisen vastuun alla. Vakuutamme, että arvokilvessä kuvattu laite vastaa neuvoston direktiivejä sekä niihin liittyviä muutoksia ja täydennyksiä. Lisäksi annetaan yhdenmukaistetut standardit tai tekniset erittelyt (käyttötarkoitukset), joita on sovellettu EU-maissa, voimassa olevien turvallisuutta koskevien valmistukseen liittyvien määräysten ohella.

NO Denne samsvarserklæringen er utferdiget under eneansvar av produsenten. Det erklæres at apparatet, beskrevet på typeskiltet, er i samsvar med gjeldende europeiske direktiver og senere endringer og tillegg. Harmoniserte standarder eller tekniske spesifikasjoner (betegnelser) anvendt i samsvar med EUs gjeldende sikkerhetsregler er angitt.

CZ Toto prohlášení o shodě je vydáno v plné zodpovědnosti výrobce. Prohlašuje se, že zařízení popsané na identifikačním typovém lístku odpovídá legislativním nařízením Evropských směrnic ve znění pozdějších změn a doplňků. Harmonizované standardy nebo technické specifikace (označení) jsou aplikovány v souladu se správnou praxíplatnou v EU uvedenou níže.

Direttive e regolamenti europei European directives and regulations		Norme armonizzate / Specifiche tecniche Harmonised standards / Technical specifications			
2014/35/EU*	(LVD)	EN 60335-1:2012+A11:2014+A13:2017+A1:2019+A2:2019+A14:2019 EN 60335-2-75:2004+A12:2010+A11:2006+A1:2005+A2:2008			
2006/42/EC*	(MD)	EN 60335-1:2012+A11:2014+A13:2017+A1:2019+A2:2019+A14:2019			
2014/68/EU	(PED)	EN 60335-1:2012+A11:2014+A13:2017+A1:2019+A2:2019+A14:2019			
2014/30/EU	(EMCD)	EN 55014-1:2021 EN 61000-3-2:2021 EN 55014-2:2021 EN 61000-3-3:2021			
2002/72/CE+2008/39/CE					
EC 1935/2004		EN 16889:2016	EDQM Practical Guide CM/RES (2013)9		
10/2011/EU+amendments					
EC 2023/2006	(GMP)				
2011/65/EU+ amendments	(RoHS)	EN 50581:2012			
2012/19/EU	(WEEE)				
2014/53/EU ** (RED)		EN 62311:2008 EN 60335-1:2012+A11:2014+A13:2017+A1:2019+A2:2019+A14:2019 EN 60335-2-75:2004+A12:2010+A11:2006+A1:2005+A2:2008	ETSI EN 301 489-1 V2.1.1:2016 ETSI EN 301 489-1 V2.2.3:2019 ETSI EN 301 489-17 V3.2.4:2020 ETSI EN 301 489-52 V1.1.0:2016 ETSI EN 301 511 V12.5.1:2017 ETSI EN 301 908-1 V13.1.1:2019 ETSI EN 300 328 V2.2.2:2019		

* Qualunque sia applicabile / Whichever applicable

**Solo con moduli radio di Evoca S.p.A. / Only with radio modules of Evoca S.p.A.

Il fascicolo tecnico è costituito e disponibile presso: Evoca S.p.A.

The technical file is compiled and available at:

Jachen Fabritius

Declaration of conformity

The declaration of conformity with the European Directives and Standards provided for by the laws in force is supplied by the first page of this manual, which is an integral part of the machine. It is declared on that page that the machine described by the identification plate is in compliance with:

- The legal provisions of the European Directives in force (with the subsequent amendments and integrations thereof)
- The harmonised standards in force
- The technical specifications (designations) applied in compliance with the safety rules of good practice enforced in the EU and listed on the same page.

Symbology

The following symbols may be present inside the machines, according to models (signs of danger)

Attention

Hot surface



Attention: dangerous voltage Power off before removing the cover



Attention Danger of crushing your hands

The signs of danger must be readable and visible; they shall be neither hidden nor removed. Damaged or unreadable labels must be replaced.

Warnings

This document intended for the technical personnel is made available in the electronic format at the manufacturer's (reserved area web site).

FOR INSTALLATION

The installation and any subsequent maintenance operation shall be carried out by the personnel skilled and trained on the utilisation of the machine according to the rules in force

The machine is sold without any payment system. As a consequence, only the installer will be liable for any damage that may be caused to the machine or to things and persons by an incorrect installation of the payment system.

The intactness of the machine and its compliance with the standards of relevant installations must be checked by skilled personnel at least once a year.

Package materials must be disposed of in observance of the environment.

Only for hot beverage machines

The machine is equipped with an automatic washing system for the mixers with the relative water circuit and the brewing unit.

If the machine is not used for some time (weekends, etc.) even for pauses longer than two days, it is recommended to enable the automatic washing functions (e.g. before starting to use the VM.

FOR USE

The machine can be used by children over 8 years and by people having reduced physical, sensorial or mental skills under the supervision of people responsible for their safety or specifically trained on the use of the machine.

Children shall not be allowed to play with the machine by the people in charge of their supervision

Children shall not be allowed to clean or service the machine.

FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

Some tricks will help you to protect the environment:

- use biodegradable products to clean the machine;
- properly dispose of all the packages of the products used to fill and clean the machine;
- power off the machine during inactivity for energy saving.

FOR DISMANTLING AND DISPOSAL

When dismantling the machine, it is recommended to destroy the machine rating plate.



The symbol shows that the machine can not be disposed of as common waste, but it must be disposed of as it is established by the 2012/19/EU (Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment - WEEE) European Directive and

by the national laws arising out of it in order to prevent any negative consequence for environment and human health.

The differentiated collection of the machine at the end of its life is organised and managed by the manufacturer. For the correct disposal of the machine contact the sales point where you have purchased the machine or our after-sales service.

The unlawful disposal of the machine implies the application of the administrative sanctions provided for by the rules in force.

Attention!

If the machine is equipped with a cooling system, the cooling unit contains HFC-R134a fluoridised greenhouse effect gas

ruled by the Kyoto protocol, the total heating potential of which is equal to 1300.

English

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

INTRODUCTION	2
IDENTIFICATION OF THE MACHINE AND ITS FEATURES	2
IN CASE OF FAILURE	2
TRANSPORT AND STORAGE	2
POSITIONING THE VENDING MACHINE	0
	3
ELECTRIC ENERGY CONSUMPTION	5
CLEANING AND FILLING	6
HYGIENE AND CLEANING	7
USING THE DISPENSERS OF HOT DRINKS IN OPEN CANISTERS	8 8
CONTROLS AND INFORMATION	8
LOADING PRODUCTS	9
COFFEE BEANS	9
INSTANT PRODUCTS	9
	9 10
CLEANING WASTE TRATS	10
CLEANING THE BREW UNIT	12
CLEANING THE MILK TANK	12
CLEANING AND FILLING THE WATER SUPPLY TANK	12
	12 12
WASHING THE CAPPUCCINATORE	12
INSTALL ATION	14
	15
WATER SUPPLY	15
ELECTRICAL CONNECTION	16
PAYMENT SYSTEM ASSEMBLY	17
	17
INSERTING SELECTION LABELS	17
FIRST POWER ON	18
	18
INITIALIZATION FIRST SANITISATION	19 19
	20
	∠∪ 20
DECAFF DISPENSING CYCLE	21
MILK DISPENSING CYCLE	21
CONTROLLING AND ADJUSTING SETTINGS	21
REGULATING THE BREWING CHAMBER VOLUME	22
	23
MILK SETTINGS	24 24

PAGE

PROGRAMMING	25
NORMAL OPERATION MODE	25
NAVIGATION ACCESS TO PROGRAMMING NAVIGATION MODE	26 26 26
FILLER MENU STATISTICS INDIVIDUAL PRICE MANAGEMENT OF CHANGE TUBES TEST DISPENSING	27 27 28 28 28
TECHNICIAN MENU FAILURES PROGRAMMING PARAMETERS STATISTICS TEST MISCELLANEOUS	29 30 37 39 40
MAINTENANCE	42
GENERAL FOREWORD MAIN SWITCH BREW UNIT MAINTENANCE CLEANING AT REGULAR INTERVALS CLEANING MIXERS AND FOOD CIRCUITS CLEANING THE SHELF AND INSTANT PRODUCT CANISTERS	42 42 43 44 44 46
BOARD FUNCTION CPU ACTUATION BOARD SOFTWARE UPDATE USER INTERFACE BOARD BOILER CONTROL BOARD EXPANSION BOARD FOR PAYMENT SYSTEMS BOILER HEAT PROTECTION	46 47 48 48 49 49 50
APPENDIX	51

Introduction

The technical documentation supplied is an integral part of the equipment and it must therefore accompany the equipment whenever it is either moved or transferred to enable the various operators to consult it.

Before starting to install and use the machine, it is necessary to carefully read and understand the content of the documentation since it can supply important information on installation safety, utilisation rules and maintenance operations.

The manual is divided into tree chapters.

The **first chapter** is intended to describe the ordinary filling and cleaning operations that shall be carried out in areas of the machine that can be accessed with the simple use of the door key, without using any other tool. The **second chapter** contains the instructions for correct installation as well as the information necessary for optimal utilisation of the machine performance.

The **third chapter** is intended to describe the maintenance operations involving the use of tools for access to potentially dangerous areas.

The operations described in the second and third chapter must be carried out only by the personnel who have a specific knowledge of the machine operation from the point of view of electric safety and health rules.

IDENTIFICATION OF THE MACHINE AND ITS FEATURES

Every single machine is identified by a specific serial number that can be found on the rating plate arranged inside on the right side.

The plate is the only one recognised by the manufacturer and it contains all the data that enable the manufacturer to supply technical information of any kind in a quick and safe manner and to facilitate the management of spare parts.

IN CASE OF FAILURE

In most cases, any technical problem can be solved by carrying out minor operations. As a consequence, we suggest carefully reading this manual before contacting the manufacturer. In case of failures or malfunctions that can not be solved, please apply to:

Evoca S. p. A. Via Roma 24 24030 Valbrembo Italy - Tel. +39 035606111

TRANSPORT AND STORAGE

To avoid damaging the machine, loading and unloading operations shall be performed with great care. It is possible to lift the machine by means of a motor-driven or manual lift truck by positioning the forks beneath the machine.

Please avoid:

- overturning the machine;
- dragging the machine by means of ropes or alike;
- lifting the machine by its sides;
- lifting the machine by means of slings or ropes
- shaking or impacting the machine and its package.

For storage it is necessary to keep the room dry at a temperature between 0 and 40 °C.

With the original package never stack more than 2 machines and never forget to keep the vertical position specified by the arrows on the package.

	TIPO/TYPE	MODELLO/MODEL	MATRICOLA/SERIAL NR		
		•	•	IMQ	
2					
3 IENSIONE/VOLTAGE		FREQUENZA/FREQU CORRENTE/CURREN	JENCY		
4 PRESSIONE	RETE/MAINS WATER	PRESSURE	•		
5					
5 CALDAIA/BOILEF	CAFF	E/CAFE SOLUBILI/SOLUE	BLE VAPORE/VAPOUR		
5 CALDAIA/BOILEF POTENZA/POWER PRESSIONE/PRESSURE	CAFF W Mpa	E/CAFE SOLUBILI/SOLUE	BLE VAPORE/VAPOUR	X	
5 CALDAIA/BOILEF POTENZA/POWER PRESSIONE/PRESSURE CAPACITA/CAPACITY	R CAFF	E/CAFE SOLUBILI/SOLUE	BLE VAPORE/VAPOUR	X	(€ ^{××}

- 2- Туре
- 3- Model
- 4- Operating voltage
- 5- Absorbed power 6- Boiler data
- 7- Serial number
- 8- Operating voltage frequency
- 9- Current

POSITIONING THE VENDING MACHINE

The machine is not suitable for installation outdoors. It must be installed in a dry room and **far from any source of heat** at a temperature ranging from 5°C to 34°C. It can not be installed in a room where water jets are used for cleaning (e.g. large kitchens, etc.). The machine must be installed near a wall, but in such a way that the back is min. 4 cm. far from the wall in order to provide for regular ventilation; in no case, it shall be covered with any piece of cloth or alike.

The maximum inclination shall not exceed 2 degrees. If necessary, level it by using the adjustable feet.

Positioning on a cabinet

The machine can be arranged on a table or any other proper support (recommended height 800 mm.). It is advisable to use - where possible - the cabinet intended to accommodate the waste tray, the water selfsupply kit and, if water is very hard, the decalcifier.

TECHNICAL FEATURES

Height	mm.	546
Width	mm.	331
Depth	mm.	528
Overall dim. with open door	mm.	724
Cabinet height	mm.	830
Weight	Kg.	28
Power supply voltage*	V∿	230/240
Power supply frequency*	Hz	50/60
Maximum power*	W	2030
Maximum power (with cappuccinatore)*	W	3250

* Refer to the rating plate.



Fig. 2

NOISE LEVEL

The weighted continuous equivalent sound pressure level is less than 70 dB.

PAYMENT SYSTEM

The machine can use special kits to mount payment systems with an Executive, MDB or BDV protocol. The payment systems shall be arranged inside the side module (optional).

SALES PRICES

The machine can manage up to 4 different prices for each selection.

Prices can be active according to the (standard or promotional) time band you have set up.

Prices are grouped in 4 lists. For each one of the 4 lists, you can set up the price globally (the price is the same for all selections) and for every single selection.

WATER SUPPLY

- Mains: with a pressure between 0.05 and 0.85 MPa (0.5 and 8.5 bar)

or

- Tank: placed inside the machine; tanks having another capacity are accommodated in an external module or in the support cabinet.

POSSIBLE ADJUSTMENTS

- Coffee beans granulometry
- Coffee beans dose
- Volumetric water doses;
- Time-based instant product doses
- Time-based milk dose (with cappuccinatore only)
- Boiler temperature adjustable from the menu

CONTROLS

- water presence
- coffee presence
- boiler operation temperature reached
- solid waste tray presence
- liquid waste tray presence

SAFETY DEVICES

- main switch
- door switch
- upper panel switch
- solid waste tray presence
- liquid waste tray presence
- boiler safety thermostats manually resettable
- air-break float jam (only if supplied by the mains)
- overflow solenoid valve (only if supplied by the mains)
- time-based protection for:

pump coffee unit ratio-motor grinder

- heat protection of:

ingredient motors coffee unit ratio-motor electromagnets pump milk pump (with cappuccinatore only) whipper motors grinder motor

- protection with fuse

board supply transformer

CANISTER CAPACITY

Canister capacities are expressed in grams and they may deviate from indications, depending upon the specific weight of products

- 1.80 lt. canister coffee beans	760 gr
- 0.85 lt. canister Coffee beans	350 gr
- Instant canister Chocolate	650 gr

ELECTRIC ENERGY CONSUMPTION

The electric energy consumption of the machine will depend upon many factors such as the temperature and ventilation of the room where the machine is installed, the inlet water temperature, the boiler temperature, etc. The calculated energy consumption shall be understood as merely indicative.

Temperature reached	Wh	28			
For 24h stand-by	Wh	833			
MODEL WITH CAPPUCCINATORE					
Temperature reached	Wh	87.8			
For 24h stand-by	Wh	1790			
The operative concumption calculated on the average va					

The energy consumption calculated on the average values above shall be understood as merely indicative.

ACCESSORIES

A wide range of accessories can be mounted on the machine to vary its performances:

The assembly kits are supplied with mounting and testing instructions that shall be strictly followed to preserve the machine safety.

The installer is the sole person responsible for any damage improper installation may cause to the machine or to things and people.

Important !!!

The use of kits not type-approved by the manufacturer can not guarantee the observance of safety standards, in particular for live parts.

The manufacturer declines all responsibility for the use of non type-approved components.

Assembly and any subsequent testing operation must be carried out by qualified personnel who have a specific knowledge of the machine operation from the point of view of electric safety and health rules.

Chapter 1 Cleaning and filling

MAIN SWITCH

A main switch outside the machine is intended to power off the machine.

Attention !!!

The line cable terminal board, the fuses and the interference suppressor remain anyway live.

DOOR SWITCH

When the door is open, you are not allowed to access any live part.

Ordinary filling and cleaning operations can be carried out in fully safe conditions.

UPPER PANEL SWITCH

When the upper panel is open, you are not allowed to access any live part.

Ordinary filling and cleaning operations can be carried out in fully safe conditions.

All the operations requiring the machine to be directly connected to a source of electricity must be only carried out by the personnel qualified and informed on the specific risks involved.



- 1- Liquid waste tray
- 2- Tiltable cup support
- 3- Milker nozzle (models with cappuccinatore)
- 4- Milk tube (models with cappuccinatore)
- 5- Nozzle support6- Brew unit
- 7- Door switch
- 8- Milk froth cock (models with cappuccinatore)
- 9- Coffee funnel
- 10- Grinding regulation knob
- 11- Decaff coffee chute (on some models only)
- 12- Upper panel
- 13- Coffee beans canister
- 14- Coffee canister shutter
- 15- Instant powder canister
- 16- Mixer
- 17- Nozzle support release button
- 18- External main switch



- Fig. 4
- 1- Liquid waste tray
- 2- Tiltable cup support
- 3- Nozzle support
- 4- Brew unit
- 5- Door switch
- 6- Doser
- 7- Upper panel switch
- 8- Coffee beans canister
- 9- Upper panel
- 10- Coffee canister shutter
- 11- Instant powder canister
- 12- Mixer
- 13- Nozzle support release button
- 14- External main switch

HYGIENE AND CLEANING

This manual shows the potential critical points and gives the instructions necessary to control any bacterial proliferation.

On the basis of the health and safety rules in force, the operator of the vending machine shall apply the self-control procedures established according to the provisions of the HACCP (Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point) directive and the national laws.

At the time of the installation, it is necessary to completely sanitise the water circuits and the parts in contact with foodstuffs in order to remove any bacterium that may have built up during storage.

It is recommended to use sanitising products to clean the surfaces, even if not directly in contact with foodstuffs.

Some parts of the machine can be damaged by corrosive detergents.

The manufacturer disclaims all responsibility for any damage caused by the non-observance of the above or the use of aggressive or toxic chemical agents.

Never forget to power off the machine before carrying out any maintenance operation requiring the disassembly of components.

USING THE DISPENSERS OF HOT DRINKS IN OPEN CANISTERS

(e.g. plastic cups, pottery cups, jugs)

The dispensers of drinks in open canisters may be only used for selling and dispensing drinks obtained by:

- brewing coffee
- reconstituting instant or freeze-dry packed products.

These products shall be declared as "suitable for automatic dispensing" in open canisters by the manufacturer.

- delivering pasteurised milk or preserved UHT milk, refrigerated and aspirated from an external tank. (models with cappuccinatore only)

Products must be preserved in strict observance of the manufacturer's instructions for storage, preservation temperature and pull date.

Dispensed drinks shall be consumed immediately. Under no circumstance shall they be preserved and/or packed for later consumption

Any other use shall be considered as improper and thus potentially dangerous.

CONTROLS AND INFORMATION

The labels including the selections and instructions are supplied with the machine and they shall be inserted at the time of the installation. Refer to the selection dose table.

The controls and information for the user are arranged outside the door.

The "Programming" button, to access the machine functions, and "mixer wash" button are located inside the machine on the right side of the button board.



- 1- Lock
- 2- Display
- 3- Selection label
- 4- Selection buttons
- 5- Dispensing nozzles
- 6- Cup support7- Signal float
- 8- Liquid waste tray

LOADING PRODUCTS

Before loading products make sure that they have been preserved according to the producer's instructions for storage, preservation temperature and pull date.

Load the products by observing the information supplied here below.

Products may even be loaded if canisters are partially full.

COFFEE BEANS

Lift the cover and fill in the coffee canister; make sure that the canister shutter is completely open.

It is advisable to use good quality coffee to avoid any machine malfunction due to the presence of impurities.

INSTANT PRODUCTS

Lift the cover and fill in the instant powder canister with the product to be dispensed.

Never compress powder to avoid packing.

Make sure that the instant products you have loaded are not lumpy.

MILK

Models with cappuccinatore only.

Milk is drawn from the milk canister by means of a tube.

Use pasteurised or UHT (Ultra High Temperature) milk only.

To preserve milk, strictly follow the manufacturer's instructions for preservation temperature and the product pull date.

To avoid any flow problem, place the milk canister on the same machine surface.

The suction tube must rest at the bottom of the milk canister and have no loop.

Milk must be managed in observance of food hygiene and safety needs.



CLEANING WASTE TRAYS

LIQUID WASTE

When the signal float surfaces from the grill, empty the liquid waste tray promptly.

It is advisable not to wait for the float signal, but to empty the tray at regular intervals.

To remove the tray:

- Took the tray by its sides, lift it slightly and pull.
- Empty the tray and wash it with a neutral detergent solution

SOLID WASTE

The coffee beans canister capacity is greater than the solid waste tray capacity (if the support cabinet is not used).

The equipment signals that the maximum number of coffee-based dispensing cycles has been reached. The following message will appear: "Empty the tray". The machine will lock after some dispensing cycles. If no solid waste tray is available, the machine is still ready to dispense instant drinks: the message "insert the tray" is displayed

N

CLEANING MIXERS AND FOOD CIRCUITS

The mixers and the conduits for dispensing instant drinks shall be carefully sanitised at the time of the installation of the machine and at least once a week or more frequently, according to the use of the machine, the inlet water quality and the products in use, in order to provide for hygiene on dispensing products.

It is absolutely forbidden to use water jets for cleaning.

For the models with cappuccinatore - besides following the instructions supplied by this paragraph - never forget to wash the cappuccinatore automatically every day.

The parts to be cleaned are:

- powder deposit drawer, powder funnel, mixers and instant drink dispensing conduit;
- dispensing nozzles;
- milker nozzle (models with cappuccinatore only)
- nozzle support;



Fig. 8

- 1- Milker nozzle (models with cappuccinatore only)
- 2- Nozzle support release button
- 3- Water funnel fastening ring nut
- 4- Mixer impeller
- 5- Water funnel
- 6- Powder deposit drawer
- 7- Instant powder funnel8- Powder conveyor

1- Solid waste tray

1

2

3

- 2- Signal float
- 3- Liquid waste tray

To clean the mixers, act as follows:

- rotate the product conveyor upwards
- rotate the water funnel fastening ring nut counterclockwise and remove the powder funnels, the powder deposit drawers and the water funnels
- unscrew the mixer impeller; to unscrew, use a finger to hold the toothed disk mounted on the whipper motor shaft firm



Fig. 9

Sanitise by making use of sanitising products.

- dip the components into a container with the sanitising solution you have prepared before for about 20' and make sure that you have mechanically removed visible residues and films by using, if necessary, pipe cleaners and brushes;
- rinse and carefully dry all parts
- reassemble the mixer impeller;
- re-position the water funnel and rotate the fastening ring nut clockwise
- reassemble the powder deposit drawers and the powder funnels
- rotate the powder conveyor downwards.

After having assembled the parts, act as follows, any way:

- Wash the mixers and add some drops of the sanitising solution into the various funnels.
- After having sanitised, rinse the parts abundantly to remove any residue of the solution in use.

All the operations requiring the machine to be directly connected to a source of electricity must be ONLY carried out by the personnel qualified and informed on the specific risks involved.

CLEANING THE MILKER NOZZLE

Models with cappuccinatore only. The milker nozzle consists of separable parts for easy disassembling and cleaning. To clean, act as follows:

- remove the milker nozzle from the nozzle support
- separate all parts and wash them by using detergents; make sure that you have mechanically removed visible residues and films by using, if necessary, pipe cleaners and brushes



Fig. 10

- A- Disassembly
- 1- B-

Assembly

CLEANING THE BREW UNIT

Whenever you fill or at least once a week, it is recommended to remove any powder residue from the external parts of the brew unit, in particular in the funnel area, the filters and the scrapers.

CLEANING THE MILK TANK

Models with cappuccinatore only.

Every day or at the end of the service empty the milk tank and remove all residues; sanitise it and make sure that you have mechanically removed visible residues and films by using, if necessary, pipe cleaners or brushes.

CLEANING AND FILLING THE WATER SUPPLY TANK

Clean the tank at least once a week for the machines using the water tank

- Discharge the residual water from the tank
- Sanitise the tank; make sure that any visible residue and film has been removed by using pipe cleaners or and brushes.
- Fill in the tank with drinkable water up to the maximum level (specified on the tank)

SERVICE INTERRUPTION

If the machine should remain off for any reason for a long period of time, act as follows:

- empty the canisters completely and wash them carefully by means of sanitising products.
- empty the grinders completely and dispense till an empty message is displayed.
- wash the milk circuit (the models with cappuccinatore only), the brew unit and the mixers as guided.
- close the cock upstream from the water supply tube and empty the water circuit completely
- detach the machine from the mains.

SERVICE FUNCTIONS

If enabled in the programming menu, some operations can be directly carried out when the door is closed by entering the relative password.

Press key 7 and hold it down for over two seconds. Enter the relative password to:

- dispense several selections consecutively to fill in a jug (jug facilities);
- dispense a selection freely (for models with payment system only)
- lock-unlock the keyboard. If the keyboard lock is active, the "INTERRUPTED SERVICE" message is displayed.
- mixer wash.

The mixer shall be washed every day and whenever products are loaded to prevent the product from accidentally falling (during the load cycle) and from clogging the mixer.

- cappuccinatore wash (models with cappuccinatore only)

the cappuccinatore shall be washed whenever the milk dispensing cycle is interrupted (for a period of time) and/or at least every day.



WASHING THE CAPPUCCINATORE

Models with cappuccinatore only.

The cappuccinatore shall be washed at the end of every service or, more frequently, according to the use of the machine.

The cappuccinatore wash (by means of a detergent) is automatically required as soon as the machine is powered on if it has not been carried out in the past 24 hours.

Only use products specifically conceived for cappuccinatori. (Kamareta milk clean tested product)

To use these products, strictly follow the producer's instructions for storage, handling, dosage and use; read safety warnings carefully.

Wash milk

Do you confirm?

Confirm the operation to start the wash cycle. Press any other key to skip the wash cycle. All subsequent operations require the operator to act manually and they must be confirmed. In sequence, they are listed here below:



remove the tube from the milk canister



insert the milk tube in a container with the detergent solution you have prepared;



As soon as you confirm, the detergent solution will flow into the milk circuit.

Use a tray to collect the detergent solution at the outlet of the nozzles.

The message is displayed at the end of the cycle



Remove the milk tube from the detergent container and insert it into a container with clean water.



Confirm to start the rinse cycle.



At the end



Re-position the tube into the milk canister.

Chapter 2 Installation

Installation and any subsequent maintenance operation must be carried out when the **machine is live** and, therefore, by the personnel skilled and trained on the use of the machine as well as aware of the specific risks such a condition may involve.

The machine must be installed in a dry room at a temperature ranging from 2°C to 32°C. It can not be installed in a room where water jets are used for cleaning (e.g. large kitchens, etc.).

At the time of the installation, it is necessary to completely sanitise the water circuits and the parts in contact with foodstuffs in order to remove any bacterium that may have built up during storage.

MAIN SWITCH

A main switch outside the machine is intended to power off the machine.

Attention !!!

The line cable terminal board, the fuses and the interference suppressor remain anyway live.

DOOR SWITCH

When the door is open, you are not allowed to access any live part.

Only the parts protected by covers and signalled by the following symbol remain live inside the machine.



Before removing these covers, detach the power supply cable from the mains.

Insert the key into the slot to power on the machine (when the door is open).

The power on key shall not be left inside the machine, it must be kept by the skilled personnel trained on how to use the machine.

UPPER PANEL SWITCH

When the upper panel is open, you are not allowed to access any live part.



- 1- Door switch
- 2- Upper panel switch
- 3- Main switch

UNPACKING THE VENDING MACHINE

After having unpacked the machine, make sure that the equipment is intact.

In case of doubt never use the equipment.

No packing material (plastic bags, foam polystyrene, nails, etc.) should be left within the reach of children since they are potential sources of danger.

Packing materials shall be disposed of in authorised dump sites and recyclable ones collected by specialised companies.

Important!!

The machine must be arranged in such a way that the maximum inclination will not exceed 2° .

If necessary, level it by using the adjustable feet supplied with the machine.

WATER SUPPLY

The vending machine must be supplied with drinkable water according to the provisions in force in the place of installation of the equipment.

WATER SUPPLY FROM THE TANK

For the models using a tank, sanitise and then fill in the tank with drinkable water

WATER SUPPLY FROM THE MAINS

For models with water supply from the mains only. The mains pressure must range from 0.05 to 0.85 Mpa (0.5 - 8.5 bar).

Let water come out of the water network until it is limpid and free of any trace of dirt.

Connect the water mains with the $\frac{3}{4}$ " union of the water inlet solenoid valve by means of a tube (also available as a kit) that can support the mains pressure and of a type suitable for foodstuffs (min. inner diameter 6 mm.).

It is recommended to apply a cock on the water network outside the machine in an accessible position.

To connect the machine with the water network, use sets of new gaskets and tubes only.

Never re-use the existing material.

OVERFLOW DEVICE

The water inlet solenoid valve is complete with an overflow device that can mechanically lock the water inlet as a result of a malfunction of the solenoid valve or the boiler water level control gear.

To restore the normal operation, act as follows:

- discharge water in the overflow tube;
- close the water network cock outside the machine;
- loosen the union intended to fasten the supply tube of the solenoid valve to discharge the residual network pressure and tighten it again.
- open the cock and power on the machine.



- 1- 3/4"inlet union
- 2- Supply tube
- 3- Overflow tube

ELECTRICAL CONNECTION

The machine is arranged for electrical operation at a 230-240 $V_{\rm \sim}$ single-phase voltage.

For connection make sure that the rating plate data correspond to the mains data, in particular: the supply voltage value must lie within the range recommended for the connection points;

It is absolutely necessary to use a main switch in compliance with the installation rules in force, placed in an accessible position. It shall be featured in such a way that it can support the maximum load required as well as ensure complete disconnection from the mains on the conditions of overvoltage category III and, therefore, the protection of circuits against earth faults, overloads and short-circuits.

The switch, the power socket and the corresponding plug shall be located in an accessible position. The electrical safety of the machine is only ensured when the machine is correctly and efficiently grounded according to the safety standards in force.

It is necessary to check this fundamental safety requirement and, in case of doubt, to require professionally qualified personnel to check the installation carefully.

The supply cable is of a flexible type with a fixed plug. If necessary, the connection cable shall be replaced by qualified personnel by using only flexible cables of the H05 RN - F or H05 VV-F or H07 RN-F type, 3x1-1.5 mm² in cross-section.

It is forbidden to use adapters, multiple sockets and/or extensions.

The manufacturer disclaims all responsibility for any damage caused by the non-observance of the precautions mentioned above.



Fia. 14

1- Connection terminal board

2- Cable clamp

3- Mains cable

PAYMENT SYSTEM ASSEMBLY

The machine is sold without any payment system. As a consequence, only the installer will be liable for any damage that may be caused to the machine or to things and persons by an incorrect installation of the payment system.

Payments systems, such as validators, "change-giver" and "cashless", can be used by means of the specific kits.

Kits are equipped with specific instructions.

Payment systems, such as "change giver", must be physically housed in the special side module (optional).

DECALCIFIER

The machine is supplied without a decalcifier.

In case of connection with a network, the water of which is very hard, mount a decalcifier.

Use decalcifiers, the capacity of which is suitable for the actual use of the machine.

In case of supply from the tank, filtering cartridges can be used.

The cartridges must be replaced at regular intervals, according to the water quality and the manufacturer's instructions.

Decalcifiers, even available as an accessory, shall be regenerated or replaced according to the manufacturer's instructions at regular intervals.

INSERTING SELECTION LABELS

Selection labels are supplied with the machine. Use the labels according to the layout and the language (see the "selection dose" table). Act as follows:

- Open the door
- Remove the button board cover
- Insert the selection labels into the slots. Observe the arrangement of the labels according to the layout you have chosen.
- Re-position the cover



Fig. 15

1- Button board cover

2- Slots

3- Selection labels

FIRST POWER ON

As soon as you power on the machine for the first time, fill in the hydraulic circuit.

You can programme the machine to enable the function intended to display the checks you shall perform before setting the machine at work, i.e.:

- Tubing (nozzles, etc.)
- Mixer
- Powder conv. (powder conveyor)
- Coffee shutter
- Power on

The request "Do you confirm?" is displayed for all checks.

Press any selection key to continue.

The function intended to supply the list of preliminary checks can be enabled (disabled by default) from the programming menu.

After the sequence of initial controls, the machine suggests the wash cycle for the cappuccinatore, for the models with cappuccinatore only.

It is recommended to carry out the wash cycle of the cappuccinatore at the time of the first installation.

The software release number of the machine is displayed at the end.

You can programme the machine to display the number of dispensing cycles you have made for some seconds. The operator is prompted to select a drink after heating.

FILLING THE WATER CIRCUIT

MODELS WITH TANK

When you power on for the first time, carry out the installation procedure manually.

Start programming in the "technician" mode and use the "manual installation" special function of the "test" menu (see the relative chapter).

MODELS SUPPLIED BY THE MAINS

When powered on, the machine will check the air break conditions (full or empty), the pump and the boiler priming (either pressurised or not).

If necessary, the machine will automatically start an installation cycle, i.e.:

- the display will show "Installation" for the whole duration of the cycle;
- the mains solenoid valve is opened or the pump started to fill the air-break;
- the milk solenoid valve will open to bleed the air in the boiler and in the water circuit and to let 400 cc. water flow in.

Please Note: If there is no water during the installation cycle, the machine will stop till the water flow is restored or the machine is powered off.

important!!!

If a considerable amount of air bubbles is formed in the water circuit, e.g. due to maintenance, an installation cycle may be automatically performed as soon as the machine is powered on.

INITIALIZATION

This function shall be used in case of error of the data in the memory or if the software is replaced.

All the statistical data, with the exception of the general electronic counter, will be reset.

When the display is in the "Initialization" function, it is possible to initialize the machine by resetting all the default data.

When the confirmation key \checkmark is pressed, the display will show the message "Confirm?". If the confirmation key \checkmark is pressed again, some parameters will be requested such as:

- NATION: meaning the type of basic doses for the various selections

(i.e. IT coffee = 60 cc - FR coffee = 106 cc). The "nations" provided vary, depending on the model.

- LAY OUT: for each model and type of doses, there are a number of button-Selection Un Certain combinations among Which it is possible to choose (the For Each layout combinations at the doses are indicator-table selections Supplied with the machine).
- TANK: It defines whether the water is supplied:
- 0 from mains
- 1 from internal tank

By confirming the options, the message "Execution" is displayed for a few seconds..

FIRST SANITISATION

As soon as you install the machine, carefully disinfect the food circuits (brew unit, mixer, conduits for dispensing drinks, internal tanks, ...) in order to guarantee the hygiene of dispensed products.

It is absolutely forbidden to use water jets for cleaning.

Sanitise by making use of sanitising products. Wash the mixers by adding some drops of sanitising solution; then, wash the cappuccinatore and the brew unit completely.

After having sanitised, rinse the mixers abundantly to remove any residue of the solution in use.

To dispense water in the mixers, use the rinse function from the "wash" menu.

Important !!!

The machine is equipped with an automatic washing system for the mixers, the brew unit and the milk circuit. If the machine is not used for a long time (week ends etc.), even for less than two days, it is recommended to enable the automatic washing functions (e.g. before starting to use the machine).

OPERATION

The following paragraphs describe the operation of the main components of the machine.

BREW UNIT CYCLE WITH FIXED CHAMBER

Whenever you power on the machine, the coffee unit will make a complete rotation before performing the normal cycle to make sure that the device will occupy the initial position.

Whenever you require a selection based on coffee beans

- For the models with no volumetric doser: the grinder works so as to reach the coffee dose.
- For the models with volumetric doser: when the doser is full, the ground dose is released into the coffee unit.

Coffee falls into the brewing chamber arranged vertically. The ratio-motor crank coupled on the disk outside the unit rotates by 180°, thus causing the brewing chamber to swing and the upper piston to lower.



Fig. 16

- 1- Upper piston
- 2- Brewing chamber
- 3- Lower piston
- 4- Pre-brewing spring
- 5- Swinging lever
- 6- External disk

Due to the water pressure, the pre-brewing spring sinks and the lower piston goes down 4 mm, thus forming a water cushion which allows an even use of the coffee dose.

At the end of the dispensing cycle and during a 3-second pause, the pre-brewing spring will discharge the water layer through the third way of the dispensing solenoid valve, lightly pressing the used coffee dose. By completing its rotation, the ratio-motor makes the swinging lever lift the pistons and the coffee dose. While the brewing chamber is returning to its vertical position, the scraper on the coffee funnel prevents the used coffee dose from moving, dropping it. The lower piston returns to the bottom dead centre.



DECAFF DISPENSING CYCLE

When the machines are supplied (whenever the decaff funnel is available), the decaff flap is locked

As required by the location, you may decide to unlock the flap in order to be able to pour decaffeinated coffee or alike manually

It is necessary to make sure that no other type of products is poured.

A magnet arranged on the flap for pouring decaff coffee will signal to the machine by means of a sensor on the door that the flap has been opened.

The following message will flash on and off on the display:



The selections based on decaffeinated coffee are dispensed without acting on the grinder.

The brew cycle is the same as the espresso coffee cycle. If the decaff dispensing cycle is cancelled before dispensing, the "decaffeinated" pre-selection is cancelled. The machine will rotate the brew unit to discharge the decaff power that has been poured.

Fig. 19

- 1- Flap opening signal magnet
- 2- Decaff flap
- 3- Decaff funnel
- 4- Decaff funnel

MILK DISPENSING CYCLE

As soon as the drinks are required to be prepared with milk, the steam solenoid valve is opened (EVVAP) and the milk pump activated.

Milk is heated and emulsified with air.

At the end of the selection, a small hot water quantity (opening of the ELAV solenoid valve) is conveyed to the milker nozzle for a partial wash cycle.

A partial wash cycle is not intended to replace the necessity to disassemble the milker nozzle for sanitising purposes regularly

CONTROLLING AND ADJUSTING SETTINGS

To achieve the best results compared with the product in use, it is recommended to check:

- The used coffee dose shall be slightly compressed and moistened.
- The granulometry of ground coffee
- The coffee dose of ground coffee
- The dispensing temperature
- The water dose.

REGULATING THE BREWING CHAMBER VOLUME

The brew unit can work with coffee doses between 5.5 and 7.5 gr by properly positioning the upper piston. To vary the piston position, act as follows:

- extract the snap ring from the seat;
- place the piston into the corresponding seats: less deep seats: doses from 5.5 to 6.5 gr.; deeper seats: doses from 6.5 to 7.5 gr.



Fig. 20

- 1- Snap ring
- 2- Upper piston
- 3- Piston housing seats

GRINDING REGULATION

If it is necessary to change the grinding degree, properly act on the corresponding grinder knob:

to grind	knob rotation
coarsely	counterclockwise (grinding wheels are mo- ved farther)
finely*	clockwise (grinding wheels are moved closer)

*The finer the grinding degree, the longer the time required to dispense the coffee and viceversa.

It is recommended to vary the grinding degree during the operation of the coffee-grinder motor.

Please Note: after having changed the grinding degree, make at least 2 selections to check the new granulometry of ground products more carefully.



Fig. 21

1- Grinder

2- Grinding regulation knob



Fig. 22

1- Grinder

2- Grinding regulation knob

COFFEE DOSE REGULATION

A sensor is arranged on the grinder to count the rotations of the grinding wheels.

This will enable the software intended to control the machine to establish the number of turns and, therefore, the number of coffee grams associated with every single selection.

Follow the programming procedures to establish how many grams of ground product (from 5.5 to 7.5 gr.) shall be associated with every single selection.

To take the dose, just remove the coffee unit and select the corresponding item from "Special functions" of the "Technician" menu.

MODELS WITH VOLUMETRIC DOSER

The dose regulation lever can be positioned in one of the 10 reference notches. It shall be kept in mind that:

- if you lift the lever, the dose will increase:
- if you lower the lever, the dose will decrease:

- every single notch will vary the dose by about 0.35 gr. Moreover, by completely turning the lever upwards, you can release the tooth from the groove on the dose rule and place it in another one to vary the average regulation as follows:

- low 8 gr. ± 0.5

- medium 7 gr. ± 0.5

- high 6 gr. ± 0.5

To take the dose, just remove the coffee unit and use the corresponding function in the menu "test in technician mode".



1- Dose regulation lever

2- Reference notches

3- Dose regulator

BOILER TEMPERATURE

The boiler temperature is adjustable via software. The temperature set by default is specified by the dose table (layout) supplied with the machine..

MILK SETTINGS

MODELS WITH CAPPUCCINATORE ONLY

Dose

The milk dose is adjustable (on a time basis) and programmable from the menu.

A flow rate regulator on the milk tube is intended to act on the milk flow.

Act on the flow rate regulator to vary the milk quantity and temperature

TEMPERATURE

A variation in the milk flow (with the flow rate regulator on the milk tube) involves a variation in the temperature and the milk dose.

After any considerable variation check the milk dose that is being dispensed.

FROTH

Act on the air cock to regulate the air quantity (and, as a result, the froth) dispensed along with milk.

Nozzle rinse

At the end of the selection, a small hot water quantity is conveyed to the milker for a partial rinse cycle.

This does not exclude the necessity to sanitise every day and to disassemble the milk nozzle at regular intervals.

Notes on Programming

The electronic control unit of the machine controls the use of many functions.

The programme of the machine contains a description of all the foreseen functions, including those which, for the specific configuration of the model (layout), are not used. The machine is supplied together with:

- Selections layout, which contains the selections foreseen for the specific model
- Flow chart of the programming menu.

Described below is a summary of the main functions which are useful for managing the operation of the machine, not necessarily in the order in which they are displayed in the menu.

The software version can be updated using the appropriate systems (PC, UpKey, etc.)

The display messages which show the operation in progress are steady-on, while any action requested of the user flashes.

The status of the machine can be in three different modes.

Depending on the status in which the machine is, the buttons of the keyboard assume different functions.

NORMAL USER

- Machine start-up (door closure) with the execution of the foreseen checks.
- Operations that can be done with the door closed.
- Dispensing selection and messages to the user.

LOADER MENU

- Detection of statistical data and execution of simple checks on the operation and on the dispensed items.

TECHNICAL MENU

- Programming of the settings and of the performances of the machine.

NORMAL OPERATION MODE

The message requiring the user to select a drink will appear on the display during the normal operation.



The animation showing the drink preparation level is displayed during the dispensing cycle.



If the control system should find out a failure, an error message will appear and specify the type of problem. The keyboard is lit up in red according to settings.



At the end of the dispensing cycle, the display shows the message:



NAVIGATION

ACCESS TO PROGRAMMING

To access the programming menus, power on the machine when the door is open by acting on the door switch.

To access the programming mode, press the "programming" button arranged inside the machine door. The machine has access to the "filler menu", use key χ to switch from the "filler menu" to the "technician menu" and viceversa.



Fig. 24

- 1- General mechanical counter
- 2- Programming button
- 3- RS232 serial port
- 4- Button board cover

NAVIGATION MODE

The interaction between the system and the operator occurs through:

DISPLAY

Display intended to show the user messages or the menu items.

Programming menus are represented as follows:



Selected menu item

The menu item on which the cursor is positioned

TECH> 2.1

It specifies the menu, in which we are acting (Filler or Technician), followed by the numeric position of the function, on which the cursor is placed (e.g. 2.1)

KEYBOARD

SCROLLING KEYS 🔶 AND 🔺 :

To scroll the menu items (functions).

To vary the logic status of a data item (ON/OFF) or to enter/modify alphanumeric values within functions, where required.

ENTER KEY 🗸 :

To move from a menu to a sub-menu or to confirm the data item on the display.

ехіт кеу 🗶:

To go back from a sub-menu to the upper level menu or to cancel the function.

It is also used to move from the "Technician" mode to the "Filler" mode and vice versa.

NUMERIC VALUES OF KEYS

When the control software requires the operator to enter a password, the keyboard will assume the numeric values specified.



Fig. 25

FILLER MENU

STATISTICS

All the machine operation data are stored in total and relative counters that can be reset without losing total data.

Print

This function is intended to print the data that have been stored for the machine operation.

Connect an RS232 serial printer having 9600 baud rate, 8 data bits, no parity, 1 stop bit with the serial port on the button board in order to print all statistics, i.e.:

TOTAL

1 - counter by selection;

2 - counter by band;

- 3 discount counter;
- 4 failure counter;
- 5 coin mechanism data.

RELATIVE

- 1 counter by selection;
- 2 counter by band;
- 3 discount counter;
- 4 failure counter;
- 5 coin mechanism data.

The machine code, the date and the software release will be also printed.

To print, act as follows:

- From the print function press key \checkmark to display "Do you confirm?";
- connect the printer;
- Press the Enter key \checkmark to start printing

DISPLAY

The function is intended to sequence-display the same data you can obtain by printing statistics.

Press the Enter key \checkmark to sequence-display the following data:

TOTAL COUNTERS

- 1 counter by selection;
- 2 counter by band;
- 3 discount counter;
- 4 failure counter;

5 - coin mechanism data.

RELATIVE COUNTERS

- 1 counter by selection;
- 2 counter by band;
- 3 discount counter;
- 4 failure counter;
- 5 coin mechanism data

Delete

Statistics can be reset for relative counters either globally (all types of data) or selectively for:

- selections
- discounts
- failures
- coin mechanism data

Press the Enter key \checkmark to display the blinking message: "Do you confirm?"

Press the Enter key \checkmark to reset the statistics. The display shows the "Running" message during the operation and statistics are reset.

INDIVIDUAL PRICE

The machine can manage up to 4 different prices per selection, which can be active according to the time band you have set (standard or promotional) and/or the payment system in use.

Use this function to vary the sales price for every single selection by selecting among the price ranges available.

MANAGEMENT OF CHANGE TUBES

This function is active only if this operation can be carried out by the payment system you have set up.

Access the function to manually load or empty the change tubes.

If you confirm loading,

"Credit : ——" will appear on the display. This is the value of the money made available in the tubes for the change. If you insert a coin into the validator, the display will increase the value of the money made available in the tubes for the change.

If you confirm unloading, you can establish the tube on which you wish to act. Whenever you press the Enter key \checkmark , a coin is ejected by the active tube.

TEST DISPENSING

Possible test dispensing cycles are listed here below (for every single selection):

- Complete dispensing
- Water-only dispensing
- Powder-only dispensing

Please Note For the selections based on espresso coffee, partial powder and water dispensing cycles are intended to dispense additions only; if no addition is involved in the selection, the display will show "Disabled Sel".

DECAFF FLAP SIMULATION

If the door is open, the decaff flap magnet (if any) can not be properly detected.

A symbol simulating the flap status is displayed on the first line of the display after the number and the active menu function:

★ = Flap closed (grinding occurs during test selections);

Flap open (grinding fails to occur during test selections);

to change the decaff flap simulator status, press the last key on the right.

TECHNICIAN MENU

Press key \mathbf{X} from the "Filler" mode to set the machine to the "Technician menu" mode.

Press key \bigstar to go back to the Filler mode from any first-level function.

FAILURES

The machine is equipped with several sensors intended to control the various functional units.

As soon as a malfunction is found out, the type of failure is displayed and the machine (or part of it) is set out of order.

The failures are stored in special counters. The failures managed by the software may be relate4d to functional groups not available on the specific model.

CURRENT FAILURE READOUT

Function used to display the current failures. Press the Enter key \checkmark to display the current failures. If there is no failure at the moment, press the Enter key \checkmark to display the "Failure end" message. Possible failures are listed here below:

Possible failures are listed here

- No water

For the models supplied from the tank: the machine stops if the magnetic sensor of the tank is activated. or

For the models supplied from the mains: if the air-break microswitch remains closed for a minute, the water inlet solenoid valve is energised, waiting until the water flow is restored.

- Waste container full

Espresso coffee based selections are disabled as soon as you reach the number of used doses you have set up in the menu.

- Air-break

The machine is locked if the air-break microswitch has never signalled the lack of water after a well-defined number of volumetric counter pulses.

- Volumetric counter (impeller) The volumetric counters (impellers) fail to count within a maximum time limit.
- Espresso boiler

The machine will stop working if after 10 minutes of heating from start-up or from last selection the water in the boiler has not reached the temperature.

- Steam boiler

The selections using steam are disabled if the boiler has failed to reach the operation temperature after the maximum heating time after the power on or after the latest selection

- coin box

if it receives a pulse for more than 2 seconds on a line of the validator or if the dialog with the coin box is interrupted for more than 30 seconds (Executive protocol) or 75 seconds (BDV protocol).

- Machine lock

The machine stops if it has reached the number of coffee and instant selections you have separately set up by means of the "selection counter" function

- Grinder lock

If the grinder is not rotating or it is rotating too slowly, the espresso coffee-based selections are disabled. The selections based on decaffeinated coffee remain available

- Espresso unit

It is due to a mechanical lock of the brew unit; the machine disables coffee-based selections.

- No coffee

If the grinder exceeds usual grinding speed for over 5 seconds, the selections based on espresso coffee are disabled.

The selections of all instant products remain available

- Coffee dispenser

Coffee-based selections are disabled if the doser microswitch should signal the presence of coffee in the doser chamber after having released the dose of ground products.

- RAM data

One or more areas of the RAM memory contain altered data which was corrected with the default values. The machine continues to work, but it is preferable to proceed with the initialization as soon as possible.

- Coffee out of order

The machine stops when reaching the number of coffee selections you have separately set up by means of the "selection counter" function.

- Instant out of order

The machine stops when reaching the number of coffee selections you have separately set up by means of the "selection counter" function.

FAILURE RESET

Confirm the function to reset all current failures, if any.

PROGRAMMING PARAMETERS

Cash

Models with payment system only.

This group of functions is intended to manage all the parameters relative to the payment systems and sales prices.

PRICES OF SELECTIONS

For every single selection it is possible to set four different prices, the operation of which will vary according to the time bands, if enabled.

Prices can be programmed (from 0 to 65,535) globally (the same price for all selections) or on a selection basis, for each one of the 4 time bands.

If you have to sell most products at the same price, it will be advisable to programme the price globally and to change the price of the selections having a different sales price.

TIME BANDS

Four time bands can be programmed for the sale of products at different prices.

Time bands can be programmed by hour (from 00 to 23) and by minute (from 00 to 59) at the start and at the end. If the start-of-band and end-of-band values are equal to 00.00, the band is disabled.

The time of reference is represented by an internal clock that can be programmed by:

day/month/year week-day 1-7

and then by

hour/minutes/seconds.

COIN MECHANISMS

You can decide which protocols to enable for the payment systems available and manage the relative functions.

The following payment systems are available:

- Executive
- Validators
- BDV
- MDB

If you choose one of the systems, you can manage its functions.

EXECUTIVE

The following payment systems are arranged for the Executive system:

- Standard
- Price Holding
- Coges
- U-Key
- Sida

VALIDATORS

When the display is positioned on the "Validat. Lines" function (line programming) of the "programming" menu, you can vary the value of the 6 coin lines of the validator from A to F.

BDV

The BDV protocol menus enable the user to define the following functions.

TYPE OF DISPENSING

To set the operation mode by multiple or single dispensing. In case of multiple dispensing, the change is not automatically given at the end of a successful delivery, but the credit will remain available for further dispensing. If you press the coin return button, the remaining credit will be returned if its value is lower than the maximum change value.

MAXIMUM CREDIT

Use this function to define the maximum accepted credit for inserted coins.

MAXIMUM CHANGE

You can set a limit on the total amount of the change the coin mechanism will pay as soon as you press the change button or after one single dispensing. The credit exceeding the amount you have programmed by this function will be cashed.

CHANGE REFUSED

To enable/disable the credit return if no dispensing has been performed.

If enabled, this function will provide for the return of the coins even if the first dispensing cycle has not occurred. If a delivery has failed for any reason whatsoever, the change will be returned, upon request.

ACCEPTED COINS

To define which coins shall be accepted among those recognised by the validator.

For the coin/value correspondence check the label showing the position of the coins on the coin mechanism.

COINS ACCEPTED FOR CHANGE

To program the refusal of a coin in case of "exact amount".

For the coin/value correspondence check the label showing the position of the coins on the coin mechanism.

EXACT CHANGE EQUATION

To define the combination of empty tubes intended to set the coin mechanism to the "exact amount" mode. All possible combinations of empty tubes are listed here below. For reasons of simplicity, the combination is described with reference to tubes A, B and C, where tube A will receive the lowest-value coins and tube C the highestvalue coins.

0	=	A or (B and C)
1	=	A and B and C
2	=	A and B only
3	=	A and (B or C)
4	=	A only
5	=	A or B only (default)
6	=	A or B or C
7	=	A or B only
8	=	A or C only
9	=	B and C only
10	=	B only
11	=	B or C only
12	=	C only

DISTRIBUTION BUTTONS

Use this function to enable or disable the buttons arranged on the coin mechanism in order to discharge the coins in the change tubes.

COINS ACCEPTED FOR CHANGE

To program the refusal of a coin in case of "exact amount".

For the coin/value correspondence check the label showing the position of the coins on the coin mechanism.

EXACT CHANGE EQUATION

To define the combination of empty tubes intended to set the coin mechanism to the "exact amount" mode. All possible combinations of empty tubes are listed here below. For reasons of simplicity, the combination is described with reference to tubes A, B and C, where tube A will receive the lowest-value coins and tube C the highestvalue coins.

C)
С
C)
default)
,

DISTRIBUTION BUTTONS

Use this function to enable or disable the buttons arranged on the coin mechanism in order to discharge the coins in the change tubes.

C.P.C. UNIT

It is intended to inform the coin mechanism whether some peripheral units have been installed or removed from the serial connection (peripheral units of the C.P.C type - the default control unit is always enabled).

EXACT CHANGE (MINIMUM TUBE LEVEL)

To warn the user in advance to "Insert exact amount" by adding a number of coins between 0 and 15 to the number of coins that has been programmed to establish the state of full change tubes.

VMC FREE SALE

Most of the payment systems complete with a BDV protocol is intended to manage the free sale function. However, there are some payment systems not having this function.

In this case, it is necessary to enable the VMC (vending machine control, disabled by default) free sale and to set the price of selections to zero if some selections are dispensed on a free basis.

MDB

The MDB protocol menus enable the user to define the following functions.

TYPE OF DISPENSING

To set the operation mode by multiple or single dispensing. In case of multiple dispensing, the change is not automatically given at the end of a successful delivery, but the credit will remain available for further dispensing. If you press the coin return button (if the function is enabled), the remaining credit will be returned up to the maximum change value.

CREDIT RETURN (ESCROW LEVER)

To enable/disable the credit return (by pressing the change return key) if no dispensing has been performed. If enabled, this function will provide for the return of the coins even if the first dispensing cycle has not occurred. If a delivery has failed for any reason whatsoever, the change will be returned.

MAXIMUM CREDIT

Use this function to define the maximum accepted credit for inserted coins.

MAXIMUM CHANGE

You can set a limit on the total amount of the change the coin mechanism will pay as soon as you press the change button or after one single dispensing. The credit exceeding the amount you have programmed by this function will be cashed.

ACCEPTED COINS

To define which coins shall be accepted among those recognised by the validator when the change tubes are full.

For the coin/value correspondence check the coin mechanism configuration.

RETURNED COINS

To define which coins shall be used to give the change among those available in the tubes. This parameter is active only with the coin mechanisms not intended to manage the choice of the tube in use automatically (Auto changer payout).

For the coin/value correspondence check the coin mechanism configuration.

ACCEPTED BILLS

To define which bills shall be accepted among those recognised by the reader.

For the bill/value correspondence check the reader configuration.

MINIMUM TUBE LEVEL

To set a number of coins between 0 and 15 in order to establish the state of full change tubes and to warn the user to "insert the exact amount"

COINS ACCEPTED FOR EXACT CHANGE

To define which coins shall be accepted among those recognised by the validator when the machine is in the "exact amount" mode.

For the coin/value correspondence check the coin mechanism configuration.

BILLS ACCEPTED FOR EXACT CHANGE

To define which bills shall be accepted among those recognised by the reader when the machine is in the "exact amount" mode.

For the bill/value correspondence check the reader configuration.

COMMON FUNCTIONS

IMMEDIATE CHANGE

The amount relative to a selection is generally cashed after the machine has sent the "Successful selection" signal.

If you enable this function, which is disabled by default, the cash signal is sent at the start of the dispensing cycle.

The setup of this parameter is compulsory.

DECIMAL POINT POSITION

- To set up the decimal point position, i.e.:
- 0 decimal point disabled
- 1 XXX.X (one decimal digit after the point)
- 2 XX.XX (two decimal digits after the point)
- 3 X.XXX (three decimal digits after the point).

SELECTIONS

WATER DOSE

For every single selection you can set the water dose for every single product composing the selection; the display shows the name of the selection you are acting on.

Management of mixers

For every single selection key you can set the duration of the mixing cycle for every single water dose composing the selection.

The duration can be set in two different modes.

absolute

i.e. not depending upon the opening time of the solenoid valve. The duration of the mixing cycle is set in tenths of a second for instant models and in volumetric counter pulses for Espresso models.

relative

i.e. by way of difference, either in excess or in default, compared to the closing time of the solenoid valve. The duration of the mixing cycle is always expressed in tenths of a second.

SOLENOID VALVE FLOW RATE

You can set the flow rate value of every single solenoid valve in cc/s (the cc/s value set by default is supplied by the selection dose table) to enable the user to calculate the cc that shall be dispensed.

POWDER DOSE

For every single selection key you can set the powder dose expressed in grams for every single product composing the selection. The display will show the name of the product you are acting on.

You can also programme the doses of a product "Globally", i.e. by acting on all selections by means of one single operation.

DOSER FLOW RATE

To set the flow rate value of every single doser in gr/s.

SELECTION STATE

You can define for every single selection key whether to enable it or not.

KEY/SELECTION ASSOCIATION

To change the order of the selections associated with the keyboard.

The display shows the list of selections in sequence. Press the destination key to store the association.

SELECTION NO. CHECK

To check the selection number associated with a key.

DISPENSING MACHINE PARAMETERS

BOILER TEMPERATURE

Use this function to set the operating temperature, expressed in °C, of the boiler/s.

Press the Enter key \checkmark from the function. The temperature value will flash on and off and it can be modified by pressing key \blacklozenge and \blacklozenge .

Τανκ

The unit can be supplied with water from the mains or from an internal tank.

Use this function to define:

- Tank OFF: water supply from the mains;
- Tank ON: water supply from a tank with water level sensor
- Equipped cabinet: water supply from a tank with no level control.

The last option is intended to override the coffee waste count in the tray.

WASH KEY ENABLE USE THIS FUNCTION TO ENABLE THE OPERATION OF THE MIXER WASH BUTTON.

The key is generally disabled.

POWER ON CONTROLS

You can enable or disable (ON/OFF) the request to confirm the messages intended to test the machine status (Tubing...?, mixer...?, etc.) and press a key for confirmation.

BUZZER

If the function is enabled, the machine will produce a sound signal as soon as you press a key and at the end of the selection.

MAINTENANCE COUNTER SETUP

As soon as you access the "filler menu", you can display the "replace the water filter" message after a programmable number of dispensing cycles.

If it is set up in the programming menu, you can reset the message by entering a password after having replaced the filter when the door is closed.

AUTOMATIC WASH

You can set the time at which you wish to wash the mixers automatically and to rotate the brewing units. If you set 12.00 p.m., the function is disabled (default).

ENERGY SAVING

Use this function to power off the heating of boilers and/ or the lights for external lighting in order to save electric energy whenever the machine is not used.

2 power-off time bands can be programmed on a weekly basis. The days of the week are identified by a progressive number (1= Monday, 2= Tuesday, etc.). The same time band can not include days of different

weeks.

If you should mistakenly set up overlapping time bands, the machine will remain on for the shortest period. For example, if you wish to set up the energy saving bands to operate the machine from 07.00 a.m. to 10.00 p.m. during the days of the week and to let it off on Saturdays and on Sundays, you shall set up the time bands according to the following table by using the corresponding menu.

Day		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Band 1	start	00.00	00.00	00.00	00.00	00.00	00.00	00.00
	end	07.00	07.00	07.00	07.00	07.00	23.59	23.59
Dand 0	start	22.00	22.00	22.00	22.00	22.00	00.00	00.00
Band 2	end	23.59	23.59	23.59	23.59	23.59	00.00	00.00

DECAFF CYCLE

Enable this function to dispense the instant coffee powder (if available) in two cycles in order to improve the drink presentation.

- ON: to dispense first decaffeinated powder and then water
- OFF: to dispense powder and water at the same time.

EQUIPPED CABINET

Enable this function to manage the water level signaller as unavailable and to disable the coffee waste count. The float and the coffee waste collection functions are performed by the devices in the cabinet.

SELECTION COUNTER

Use this function to lock the machine after a programmable number of coffee dispensing cycles and after a programmable number of instant dispensing cycles. As an alternative, you can lock the machine after a programmable number of dispensing cycles.

Since it is a control device that can be used by the Manager only, enter a 5-digit password to have access to it. After having entered the password, you can set the number of dispensing cycles, after the performance of which the machine is locked, read the number of dispensing cycles you have already performed and reset the lock counters.

Please Note: Counters are set to zero by default; If the counters are set to zero, this function is disabled.

NO COFFEE

Use this function to enable or disable the "pour coffee" message on the display if the grinder should exceed the usual grinding speed for over 5 seconds.

HEATING TIME OUT

After the power on, to enable the machine to reach operation conditions, the availability of selections is delayed by a programmable time interval.

WATER COUNTER ACTIVATION

If you enable this function, the mechanical counter will count hot water dispensing cycles as selections.

DISPLAY

LANGUAGE

It is possible to choose the language, among those foreseen by the software, used for the messages shown on the touchscreen.

PROMOTIONAL MESSAGE

ENABLING THE PROMOTIONAL MESSAGE

Use the function to enable the display of the promotional message you have set up.

PROMOTIONAL MESSAGE SETUP

The 4-line message can be composed by using \blacklozenge and \blacklozenge to scroll all available characters.

If you press the Enter key \checkmark the first character you can modify will flash on and off.

Press key \mathbf{X} to store the message.

PROMOTIONAL IMAGE

To enable/disable the promotional image on the display in the normal operation mode:

- ON: the message "Select a drink" and the promotional image are alternated every 3 seconds in the normal operation mode
- OFF: only the message "Select a drink" is displayed in the normal operation mode

CONTRAST REGULATION

Use this function to regulate the display contrast from min. 5% to max. 99% (default).

Pre-selections

Use this function to act on the selection-associated preselections available on a specific model and layout. For every single preselection you can decide whether to enable it or not, the key for association, the change in the selection price and the change percentage of the product dose.

MISCELLANEOUS

JUG FACILITIES

On some models complete with a special key you can obtain a number (programmable from 1 to 9.5 by default) of cup-free selections in order to fill in a jug.

PASSWORD

PASSWORD SETUP

It is a 5-digit numeric code you are required to enter to access the programming mode.

The value of this code is set to 00000 by default

PASSWORD ENABLE

To enable or disable the request for password function for access to the programming mode. The request for password is disabled by default.

COUNTER RESET PASSWORD

Use this function to set the password you shall type in the normal operation mode (door closed) to reset the selection counters.

If the password is set to 00000, the password is disabled.

MULTIPLE DISPENSING PASSWORD

To set the password you shall type in the normal operation mode (door closed) to dispense several selections in consecutive mode to fill in a jug (jug facilities).

If the password is set to 00000, the password is disabled.

FREE VEND PASSWORD

Enter the password to dispense a drink without inserting any credit.

KEYBOARD LOCK PASSWORD

Use the function to set up the password (to be entered when the door is closed) to enable/disable the selection keyboard lock.

The "Service interruption" message will appear on the display during the key lock.

If the password is set to 00000, the password is not active.

WASHING PASSWORD

Use this group of functions to set:

- Mixer washing password

Password to be entered in the normal operation mode (door closed) to wash the mixers.

The keyboard assumes the numeric values supplied by the figure at the beginning of the chapter.

- Unit washing password

Password to be entered in the normal operation mode (door closed) to wash the espresso unit. The keyboard assumes the numeric values supplied by the figure at the beginning of the chapter.

TEST SELECTION PASSWORD

To set up the password you shall type in the normal operation mode (door closed) to access the maintenance/ programming mode and to perform test selections. If the password is set to 00000, the password is disabled.

FILTER RESET PASSWORD

Use this function to set up the password necessary to reset the "replace the water filter" message when the door is closed and to reset the corresponding counter after having replaced the filter.

FILLER MENU ENABLE

To set up which functions of the filler menu shall be enabled and which of them shall be disabled. The reference numbers of the menus do not change even if some are disabled.

STOP SELECTION

To enable the "dispensing stop" function of a drink. While dispensing a drink, you can stop the dispensing cycle manually by pressing the required selection key once again.

EXTRACTION FAN MANAGEMENT

Makes it possible to enable or disable the operation of the fan extracting instant powder residue and/or steam during the preparation of instant drinks.

- ON extractor fan in continuous operation
- OFF extractor fan in operation only during the preparation of the drink and for the 30 subsequent seconds.

STATISTICS

All the machine operation data are stored in total and relative counters that can be reset without losing total data.

ELECTRONIC COUNTER

DISPLAY THE ELECTRONIC COUNTER

An electronic counter is intended to store all the dispensing cycles you have performed since you last reset it in an aggregated manner.

RESET THE ELECTRONIC COUNTER

You can reset the electronic counter.

DISPLAY VENDS AT THE START-UP

To enable / disable the display of the total number of dispensing cycles that have been made since you last reset the statistics, while you are powering on the machine.

Print

This function is intended to print the data that have been stored for the machine operation.

Connect an RS232 serial printer having 9600 baud rate, 8 data bits, no parity, 1 stop bit with the serial port on the button board in order to print all statistics, i.e.:

TOTAL

- 1 counter by selection;
- 2 counter by band;
- 3 discount counter;
- 4 failure counter;
- 5 coin mechanism data.

Relative

- 1 counter by selection;
- 2 counter by band;
- 3 discount counter;
- 4 failure counter;
- 5 coin mechanism data.

The machine code, the date and the software release will be also printed.

- To print, act as follows:
- From the print function press key \checkmark to display "Do you confirm?";
- connect the printer;
- Press the Enter key \checkmark to start printing

DISPLAY

The function is intended to sequence-display the same data you can obtain by printing statistics.

Press the Enter key \checkmark to sequence-display the following data:

TOTAL COUNTERS

- 1 counter by selection;
- 2 counter by band;
- 3 discount counter;
- 4 failure counter;
- 5 coin mechanism data.

RELATIVE COUNTERS

- 1 counter by selection;
- 2 counter by band;
- 3 discount counter;
- 4 failure counter;
- 5 coin mechanism data

Delete

Statistics can be reset for relative counters either globally (all types of data) or selectively for:

- selections
- discounts
- failures
- coin mechanism data

Press the Enter key \checkmark to display the blinking message: "Do you confirm?"

Press the Enter key \checkmark to reset the statistics. The display shows the "Running" message during the operation and statistics are reset.

MDB PROTOCOL AUDIT

- Aud 1 Money in the tubes money currently available in the change tubes
- Aud 2 Money to the tubes Money conveyed to the change tubes
- Aud 3 Money to the coin box Money conveyed to the coin box
- Aud 4 Change returned Total amount of the money that has been returned
- Aud 5 Surplus Surplus money. Amounts paid by the customer in excess and not returned (in case no money is available for change)
- Aud 6 Unloading of tubes Value of the coins dispensed by means of the "Manage tubes" function
- Aud 7 Loading of tubes Value of the coins cashed by means of the manual loading function
- Aud 8 Cash sales Value of the total sales made cash (coins + bills)
- Aud 9 Bills cashed Value of the bills that have been cashed
- Aud 10 Charge key Value of the money that has been recharged on the key
- Aud 11 Key sale Value of the money that has been cashed through keydispensing
- Aud 12 Money dispensed manually Value of the coins that have been manually dispensed through the dispensing buttons on the coin mechanism.

BDV PROTOCOL AUDIT

The coin mechanism data are intended to supply the following information in real currency:

- Aud 1 Money in the tubes money currently available in the change tubes
- Aud 2 Money to the tubes Money conveyed to the change tubes
- Aud 3 Money to the coin box Money conveyed to the coin box
- Aud 4 Change returned Total amount of the money that has been returned
- Aud 5 Money dispensed Total amount of the money that has been manually dispensed
- Aud 6 Surplus Surplus money. Amounts paid by the customer in excess and not returned (in case no money is available for change)
- Aud 7 Total sales Total sales value
- Aud 8 Exact change Sales value on the "Insert exact amount" condition
- Aud 9 Mixed dispensing Total dispensing value paid in a different way, e.g. also other types of payment (C.P.C., coin)
- Aud 10 Manual load Money inserted into the coin mechanism by means of the manual loading function

TEST

Test dispensing cycles

Use this function to dispense the following for every single selection when the door is open and without inserting the amount required.

- complete selection
- water only
- powder only

SPECIAL FUNCTIONS

Use this group of functions to:

- Rotate the brew unit
- Release a ground dose
- Empty the boilers (open a solenoid valve for each boiler to let air in if the boiler is emptied for maintenance).
- Fill in the water circuit (manual installation)

AUTOTEST

The function is intended to check the operation of the main machine components half-automatically. Confirm to start the autotest cycle of the component. Press "quit / cancel" to skip the autotest for every single component.

Some checks occur automatically, others require the manual operation of the component under check. The components under test are:

- ingredient motors activated for 2 seconds
- whipper motors activated for 2 seconds at the various speed rates
- Brew unit handled
- Wash button
- Keyboard
- Boiler temperature
- Buzzer
- Coin mechanism

MISCELLANEOUS

Machine data

The machine can store a series of codes intended to identify it at the time of acquiring statistics.

INSTALLATION DATE

Use this function to store the current system date - if properly set up - as the installation date. The date is printed at the time of rolling out statistics.

MACHINE CODE

This function is used to change the eight-digit numeric code identifying the machine (0 by default)

OPERATOR CODE

The function is used to change the six-digit numeric code identifying the operator charged to manage groups of machines (0 by default).

INITIALISATION

When the display is set to the "Initialisation" function, you can initialise the machine by restoring all default data. This function shall be used in case of a memory data error or if the software is replaced.

All statistic data are reset.

Confirm to start the initialisation.

The following parameters are required:

"country"

understood as the type of basic doses for the various selections

(e.g. IT coffee = 45 cc - FR coffee = 80 cc).

The "countries" made available according to models. "lay out"

a well-defined number of Button-Selection combinations is available for selection for every single model and type of doses (the combinations available for every single layout are supplied by the selection dose table supplied with the machine)

Confirm the options to display the message "Running" for some seconds.

"tank"

To define whether water supply occurs:

- ON: water supply from the mains
- OFF: water supply from the internal tank
- Equipped cabinet: from the tank without any signaller Confirm the options to display the message "Running"

for some seconds.

"language"

To define the language used to display messages; use keys \bigstar and \blacklozenge to scroll available languages.

UP-KEY

SETUP MANAGEMENT

UPKEY -> VENDING MACHINE

After having inserted the Up key into the plug on the C.P.U. board, this function is used to select the setup file from the list on the display. Press the Enter key to load the setup file you have selected on the machine.

VENDING MACHINE ->UPKEY

After having inserted the Up key into the plug on the C.P.U. board, this function is used to save on the Up key a setup file with the same configuration currently available on the machine.

Please specify the name you wish to assign to the file (e.g. VENDM000.STP)

DELETE

Use this function to delete one or more than one setup file on the up key you have inserted.

DELETE ALL

Use this function to delete all the setup files on the up key you have inserted.

UPKEY STATISTICS MANAGEMENT

VENDING MACHINE ->UPKEY

Confirm this function after having inserted the Up key into the plug on the C.P.U. board to save on the up key the statistics file with all the statistical data currently available on the vending machine. Please specify the name you wish to assign to the file (e.g. VENDM000. STA)

DELETE

Use this function to delete one or more than one statistics file on the up key you have inserted.

DELETE ALL

Use this function to delete all the statistics files on the up key you have inserted.

Chapter 3 Maintenance

The intactness of the machine and its compliance with the standards of relevant installations must be checked by skilled personnel at least once a year.

Never forget to power off the machine before carrying out any maintenance operation requiring the disassembly of components.

The operations described here below must be carried out only by the personnel who have a specific knowledge of the machine operation from the point of view of electric safety and health rules.

GENERAL FOREWORD

To ensure the correct operation all over the time, the equipment must be serviced at regular intervals. All necessary operations and the relative deadlines are listed here below. Obviously, they are merely indicative since they depend upon operating conditions (e.g. water hardness, humidity and room temperature, type of product in use, etc.).

The operations described by this chapter are not intended to exhaust all maintenance operations.

The most complex operations (e.g. boiler descaling) must be carried out by a technician having a specific knowledge of the vending machine.

In order to avoid any risk of oxidation or chemical corrosion in general, keep stainless steel surfaces well cleaned and painted by using neutral detergents (please avoid any solvent).

It is forbidden to use water jets to wash the machine.

MAIN SWITCH

When the door is open, you are not allowed to access any live part.

Only the parts protected by covers and signalled by the following symbol remain live inside the machine.



Before removing these covers, detach the power supply cable from the mains.

To power on the equipment when the door is open, just insert the key into the slot of the door switch. You can close the door only after having removed the key from the main switch.

BREW UNIT MAINTENANCE

The brew unit must be serviced, even if slightly, every 10,000 dispensing cycles or, any way, every 6 months. To provide for maintenance, remove the unit and act as follows:

- unscrew the brass ring nut and detach the teflon tube for boiler connection from the upper piston while paying attention not to lose the gasket.
- unscrew the knob fastening the unit to the shelf;
- extract the brew unit.

Upper filter disassembly

- Extract the upper filter snap ring from the seat;
- Extract the piston from the crosspiece.
- Disassemble the filter and the gasket from the piston.

Lower filter disassembly

- Extract the snap rings from the connecting rods and remove the connecting rods;
- Extract the snap rings from the deviating slides and remove the slides;
- Unscrew the screw from the outer disk
- Unscrew and remove the screws intended to fasten the two half-shells
- Remove the coffee funnel;
- Remove the internal brewing chamber
- Extract the snap ring intended to fasten the lower piston:
- Extract the piston from the brewing chamber and disassemble the filter.

Dip the components you have disassembled into a sanitising solution for 20 minutes. Replace the components if damaged and/or broken.

Rinse abundantly, dry everything and reassemble in the reverse order.

Important!!!

Arrange the upper piston into the grooves corresponding to the released dose

Check the efficiency of gaskets. Lubricate them by using grease for foodstuff.



- 1- Tube
- 2- Ring nut
- 3- Upper piston snap ring
- 4- Connecting rod snap ring
- 5- Coffee funnel (not available in the models with volumetric doser)
- 6- Connecting rod
- 7- Deviating slide
- 8- Fastening knob
- 9- Lower piston snap ring
- 10- External disk 11- Half-shells

CLEANING AT REGULAR INTERVALS

The operator of an automatic vending machine is responsible for its hygiene and cleaning on the basis of the health and safety rules in force.

The machine is to be cleaned at regular intervals; it is recommended to use a lukewarm water solution and non aggressive detergents.

To clean metal parts, never user any product containing abrasive or corrosive substances.

The manufacturer disclaims all responsibility for any damage caused by the non-observance of the above or the use of aggressive or toxic chemical agents.

Attention !!!

To clean the machine, NEVER direct any water jet against the machine:

CLEANING MIXERS AND FOOD CIRCUITS

The mixers and the conduits for dispensing instant drinks shall be carefully sanitised at the time of the installation of the machine and at least once a week or more frequently, according to the use of the machine, the inlet water quality and the products in use, in order to provide for hygiene on dispensing products.

It is absolutely forbidden to use water jets for cleaning.

For the models with cappuccinatore - besides following the instructions supplied by this paragraph - never forget to wash the cappuccinatore automatically every day.

The parts to be cleaned are:

- powder deposit drawer, powder funnel, mixers and instant drink dispensing conduit;
- dispensing nozzles;
- milker nozzle (models with cappuccinatore only)
- nozzle support;



- 1- Milker nozzle (models with cappuccinatore only)
- 2- Nozzle support release button
- 3- Water funnel fastening ring nut
- 4- Mixer impeller
- 5- Water funnel
- 6- Powder deposit drawer
- 7- Instant powder funnel
- 8- Powder conveyor

To clean the mixers, act as follows:

- rotate the product conveyor upwards
- rotate the water funnel fastening ring nut counterclockwise and remove the powder funnels, the powder deposit drawers and the water funnels
- unscrew the mixer impeller; to unscrew, use a finger to hold the toothed disk mounted on the whipper motor shaft firm



Fig. 28

Sanitise by making use of sanitising products.

- dip the components into a container with the sanitising solution you have prepared before for about 20' and make sure that you have mechanically removed visible residues and films by using, if necessary, pipe cleaners and brushes;
- rinse and carefully dry all parts
- reassemble the mixer impeller;
- re-position the water funnel and rotate the fastening ring nut clockwise
- reassemble the powder deposit drawers and the powder funnels
- rotate the powder conveyor downwards.

After having assembled the parts, act as follows, any way:

- Wash the mixers and add some drops of the sanitising solution into the various funnels.
- After having sanitised, rinse the parts abundantly to remove any residue of the solution in use.

All the operations requiring the machine to be directly connected to a source of electricity must be ONLY carried out by the personnel qualified and informed on the specific risks involved.

CLEANING THE MILKER NOZZLE

Models with cappuccinatore only. The milker nozzle consists of separable parts for easy disassembling and cleaning. To clean, act as follows:

- io clean, act as follows:
- remove the milker nozzle from the nozzle support
- separate all parts and wash them by using detergents; make sure that you have mechanically removed visible residues and films by using, if necessary, pipe cleaners and brushes



Fig. 29

- A- Disassembly
- 1- B-

Assembly

CLEANING THE SHELF AND INSTANT PRODUCT CANISTERS

- Remove the canisters from the machine;
- Disassemble the product outlet ports and extract the scrolls from the rear side of the canister;
- Clean all the parts by using a solution of hot water and sanitising products and dry them carefully.





- 1- Cover
- 2- Cover clip
- 3- Wheel
- 4- Canister body
- 5- Scroll fastening ring nut
- 6- Gasket
- 7- Scroll 8- Scrap
- 8- Scraper9- Powder outlet port

BOARD FUNCTION

The electronic boards are designed to be used on several equipment models.

If replaced or in order to change the machine performance, it will be necessary to check the configuration of the electronic boards and to download the corresponding software.

To access the electronic boards, remove the rear panel from the machine





- 1- Main switch
- 2- Connection terminal board
- 3- Espresso boiler control board
- 4- Steam boiler control board (models with cappuccinatore)
- 5- CPU/actuation board
- 6- Transformer protection fuses
- 7- Transformer

CPU ACTUATION BOARD

- To process the information from the user interface board and the payment system;
- To process input signals;
- To activate/deactivate users and boiler boards;

The board is supplied by 15 Vac voltage, which is rectified and stabilised at 12 Vdc by the board itself. 15 Vac voltage is supplied by the transformer. The transformer is protected by a 125 mA T fuse on the

primary winding and by a 1.25 A T fuse on the secondary winding.

RE- LAY	USER* Espresso	USER* Espresso cappuccinatore
K1	PM	PM
K2	not used	not used
K3	MF	MF
K4	ESC**	ESC**
K5	ER	ER
K6	not used	ELAV
K7	М	М
K8	ESP1	ESP1
K9	EV1	EV1
K10	MD1	MD1
K11	EV2	EV2
K12	not used	EEAVAP
K13	MD2	MD2
K14	EEA ***	EEA ***
K15	not used	EVVAP
K16	MAC	MAC

*See the wiring diagram

** models with volumetric doser

*** models supplied by the water mains



Fig. 32

- 1- (J8) SPI connection
- 2- (J1) Up Key connector
- 3- (J12) Board supply
- 4- Relay K1-...-K16
- 5- (J7) Users
- 6- (J6) Users
- 7- (J3) Cappuccinatore control signals
- 8- (JP4) CAN-BUS 2 jumper
- 9- (J11) CAN-BUS connection
- 10- (J15) CAN-BUS 2 connection
- 11- (J10) CAN-BUS connection
- 12- (JP1) CAN-BUS jumper (closed)
- 13- (J5) Relay expansion board (if any)
- 14- (J4) Boiler control probes and boards
- 15- (DL2) Boiler red led means heating steam (models with cappuccinatore)
- 16- (DL1) Boiler red led means heating espresso
- 17- (J2) Input signals
- 18- (DL4) Red led "board reset"
- 19- (J9) Not used
- 20- (DL3) Green led "run"
- 21- (DL5) Yellow led "+"5V applied

22- (J14) User interface board

23- (J13) Expansion board for payment systems

SOFTWARE UPDATE

The machine is equipped with Flash EPROM's that can be electrically rewritten.

Use a proper program and system (personal computer, Up Key or alike) to rewrite the machine management software without replacing the EPROM's.

USER INTERFACE BOARD

The board is protected by a cover and arranged inside the door. It is intended to manage:

- the display,
- the selection keyboard
- the service buttons

The RS232 serial connector and/or USB is arranged on the board to fetch the statistics.





- 1- Service buttons
- 2- RS232 serial port
- 3- USB connector
- 4- User interface board



- 1- (J15) Not used
- 2- (J12) Coin validator / acceptor
- 3- (J11) Mechanical counter
- 4- (J10) Coin validator / acceptor
- 5- (J4) CPU actuation board
- 6- (J5) Display
- 7- (J9) Decaff flap sensor
- 8- (J14) Door lighting
- 9- (DL3) green led RUN
- 10- Jumper (closed)
- 11- (J13) Not used
- 12- (DL2) red led RESET
- 13- (DL1) yellow led POWER
- 14- (J3) Programming interface
- 15- (SW4) Mixer wash button
- 16- (SW5) Unit wash button
- 17- (SW3) Programming button
- 18- (J6) SPI- Serial Peripheral Interface (if mounted)
- 19- (J8) USB connector
- 20- (C2) RS232 serial port
- 21- (J7) Not used
- 22- Jumper (closed)
- 23- (J16) Serial interface (if mounted)

BOILER CONTROL BOARD

The board is intended to control the trip of the boiler heating element.



Fig. 35

- 1- J1 To the actuation board
- 2- J2 To the boiler heating element

EXPANSION BOARD FOR PAYMENT SYSTEMS

This board is supplied with the assembly kit of payment systems, such as "change giver" or "cashless". It shall be connected with the CPU actuation board by using the connector.

The SW1 configuration minidips shall be set up as follows:

- ON: MDB systems
- OFF: Executive / BDV systems



- 1- MDB / BDV supply connector
- 2- Payment system connector (wiring supplied with the kit)
- 3- CPU actuation board connector
- 4- Configuration minidip

BOILER HEAT PROTECTION

A safety thermostat deactivates the boiler heating element whenever the safety temperature is achieved and/ or exceeded.

If one or more than one thermostat should trip, check and remove the failure cause.

Reset the thermostats manually by pressing the button on the thermostat itself.

If the thermostats should trip in the absence of water, the boiler components as well as the control and safety components might have damaged: please replace them.

Appendix





HYDRAULIC CIRCUIT



- NOZZLES
 BREW UNIT
 MIXER
 SOLENOID VALVES
 BREW UNIT SOLENOID VALVE
 BOILER
 PUMP
 BYPASS
 VOLUMETRIC COUNTER
 AIR BREAK (only if supplied by the water mains)

11- WATER INLET SOLENOID VALVE 12- TANK

HYDRAULIC CIRCUIT WITH CAPPUCCINATORE



- 1- NOZZLES BREW UNIT
- 2-3- MIXER
- SOLENOID VALVES
- MIXEH
 SOLENOID VALV
 SAFETY VALVE
 BOILER
 PUMP
 STEAM BOILER
 DITEAM DOI: END

- 9- STEAM SOLENOID VALVE

10- AIR TAP

- 11- MILKER NOZZLE
- 12- BYPASS
- 13- MILK TUBE
- 14- STEAM BOILER SUPPLY SOLENOID VALVE
- 15- VOLUMETRIC COUNTER
- 16- AIR BREAK
- 17- WATER INLET SOLENOID VALVE
- 18- MILK PUMP











The Manufacturer reserves the right to modify the features of the equipment described in this publication without giving any prior notice. Moreover, it disclaims all responsibility for any inaccuracy contained in this publication that can be ascribed to printing and/or transcription errors.

All instructions, drawings, tables and information in general contained in this publication are confidential and can be neither entirely nor partially reproduced or transmitted to third parties without the written consent of the Manufacturer who has the sole ownership.

EDITION 1 01 - 2016 CODE H 4875EN00